Supreme Court Case No. S277893

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

ANOTHER PLANET ENTERTAINMENT, LLC,

Petitioner,

v.

VIGILANT INSURANCE COMPANY,

Respondent.

Request for Certification to Decide a Matter of California Law Presented in a Matter Pending in the U.S. Court of Appeals, Ninth Circuit Case No. 21-16093

PETITIONER ANOTHER PLANET ENTERTAINMENT'S OPENING BRIEF

Kirk Pasich, SBN 94242 KPasich@PasichLLP.com Nathan M. Davis, SBN 287452 NDavis@PasichLLP.com Kayla M. Robinson, SBN 322061 KRobinson@PasichLLP.com **PASICH LLP** 10880 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite 2000 Los Angeles, CA 90024

> Telephone: (424) 313-7860 Facsimile: (424) 313-7890

ISSUE PRESENTED

The United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit certified the following question for this Court's consideration:

Can the actual or potential presence of the COVID-19 virus on an insured's premises constitute "direct physical loss or damage to property" for purposes of coverage under a commercial property insurance policy?

Another Planet Ent., LLC v. Vigilant Ins. Co., 56 F.4th 730, 734 (9th Cir. 2022). This Court may reframe certified questions to address any issues pertinent to the dispute. Cal. R. Ct. 8.548(f)(5); Another Planet, 56 F.4th at 734 ("We do not intend our framing of this question to restrict the California Supreme Court's consideration of any issues that it determines are relevant.").

INTRODUCTION

In 1962, this Court first announced a principle of insurance policy interpretation that has guided thousands of insurance coverage disputes: standard policy language must be construed to protect the reasonable expectations of the insured. *Steven v. Fid. & Cas. Co.*, 58 Cal. 2d 862, 868-69 (1962). Since then, through dozens of careful decisions, this Court has crafted a legal framework that has come to define the entire industry. The California Supreme Court has always been at the vanguard of modern insurance law, and the question now before this Court presents a pivotal opportunity either to reaffirm this bedrock principle, or to depart from it sharply.

The words "direct physical loss or damage to property," or slight permutations, are found in nearly all commercial property insurance policies. For years, courts have urged the insurance industry to define what these words mean—to make plain for insureds what insurers intend their policies to cover—but no definition has issued.

Now, this phrase has become the focus of over 2,000 cases nationwide. Property insurers, like respondent Vigilant Insurance Company, promised to provide a backstop against "all risks" of loss arising from "direct physical loss or damage to property" "caused by or result[ing] from a peril not otherwise excluded." For years, insurers, including Vigilant's parent company, made public statements indicating that losses arising from a pandemic would fall within the ambit of these "all-risk" insurance policies. Following the 2002 SARS outbreak, the insurance industry issued a new standardized exclusion so

insurers could state that their "all-risk" policies excluded losses caused by viruses. But many insurers elected to forgo use of that exclusion—or of any language alerting insureds to any notion that their "all-risk" policies did not insure losses caused by viruses. They did so even though they knew that courts, including this Court, had for decades recognized that the presence of hazardous microscopic substances could cause loss or damage to property, and even though they knew that by not using the industry's standard-form virus exclusion, a pandemic could cause them substantial financial loss.

When the COVID-19 Pandemic forced businesses like Another Planet to cease operations, the entire insurance industry concertedly yanked the safety net that they had sold to their insureds, arguing suddenly that the SARS-CoV-2 virus could not cause "direct physical loss or damage to property."

In the ensuing wave of insurance coverage litigation, America's courts once again were asked to construe this undefined phrase in the context of the Pandemic. Courts had never been asked to consider whether a peril like SARS-CoV-2, so virulent and deadly that it shut down the entire nation, could trigger coverage under "all-risk" insurance policies. Given the

magnitude of the losses that businesses were suffering, these cases presented a tension between what SARS-CoV-2 was (its physicality and how it interacted with property), the fate of insurance companies that had long feared (publicly) that a pandemic could wreak havoc on their financial positions, and decades of insurance law that found "direct physical loss or damage to property" when a microscopic substance rendered property unfit for its intended use.

The first decisions—decided on the pleadings, as in this case—began to issue in the summer of 2020, before we more fully understood what SARS-CoV-2 was and before we had any idea of the extent of its impact. There were no vaccines. The nation was locked down, terrified by SARS-CoV-2's lethality. People routinely disinfected packages and deliveries. It was hard to find toilet paper.

Those initial court decisions, uneasy in the novel Pandemic context, favored the insurers. Courts, without the benefit of a robust scientific understanding of the virus's properties and behaviors, seemed incredulous that a particle, which theoretically could be removed or neutralized with household cleaning supplies, could cause "direct physical loss or damage to property."

The insurance industry all but weaponized those early decisions, to great effect, and now most COVID-19 insurance coverage cases hold in their favor.

But they are wrong, and they threaten to undercut the pillars of insurance law that this Court has built for over a halfcentury.

First, significant evidence shows that insurers, like Vigilant, knew that a virus like SARS-CoV-2 could cause covered property damage or loss. The actions of the insurance industry in the last 15 years show this, comparing this case's insurance policy's own clauses shows this, and insurers admitted this time and again until they faced the reality of the COVID-19 Pandemic. Given all this evidence, companies like Another Planet reasonably expected coverage when the Pandemic materialized.

Second, basic principles of contract interpretation tell us that there must be a difference between "loss" and "damage." Examining what we now know about SARS-CoV-2 and how it interacts with property and airspaces shows that this virus causes "direct physical damage" when it is present in and on property. Third, decades of insurance cases tell us that when property is rendered unfit for its intended use because of the presence of a dangerous (or even merely irritating) substance or condition, the insured has suffered a "direct physical loss" under an "all-risk" insurance policy. The key source that insurers and courts have relied upon to depart from this traditional understanding of "loss" is an insurance treatise that misstated the law. Insurers, like Vigilant, have exploited that misstatement, which now threatens the stability of insurance law and the ability of companies like Another Planet to protect themselves adequately.

Fourth and finally, in the unique context of the COVID-19 Pandemic, shuttering businesses was an act of mitigation, preventing further "direct physical loss [and] damage" to covered property. As this Court has recognized, the mitigation doctrine requires that businesses like Another Planet be reimbursed for their losses reasonably incurred to avoid or reduce additional covered losses.

This Court has never shied away from making difficult groundbreaking decisions, especially when it comes to insurance law. For the reasons discussed below, this Court should break

from the trend of wrongly decided COVID-19 insurance coverage cases, shore up the sound principles that it has espoused across decades, and answer the certified question in the affirmative.

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Another Planet's story is characteristic of thousands of other California businesses that suffered financially during the COVID-19 Pandemic. Another Planet is an independent, locally owned concert production company, operating venues in the San Francisco Bay Area, Northern California, and Nevada. As people began to get sick in early 2020, Another Planet could not operate its concert venues in a manner that would protect the health and safety of its employees, performing artists, and concert attendees. Thus, Another Planet had to suspend its operations, resulting in significant financial losses.

I. <u>The Vigilant Policy</u>

Vigilant sold Another Planet a Customarq Series Entertainment Insurance Program, which includes a Property Insurance Section and a Liability Insurance Section and was in effect May 1, 2019, to May 1, 2020 (the "Policy" or "Vigilant Policy"). 3-E.R.-439. The Property Insurance section provides "all-risk" property insurance—that is, it insures against all risks of physical loss or damage except those plainly, clearly, conspicuously, and expressly excluded. 3-E.R.-456. Unlike "enumerated perils" property insurance policies, which cover only certain causes of loss, "all-risk" property insurance policies provide broad coverage for unprecedented and unanticipated risks of loss. 3-E.R.-395 ¶ 46.

The Policy consists of various standard forms and endorsements that define the scope of coverage. 3-E.R.-396 ¶ 47; *see generally* 3-E.R.-427. Like most commercial property insurance policies, the Policy insures not only against physical loss or damage to covered property, but also for resulting economic and financial losses, referenced in the Policy as "Business Income With Extra Expense" coverage. 3-E.R.-483-97.

The Policy's Business Income With Extra Expense coverage is designed, understood, stated, and intended to cover insureds for economic losses, including losses from the interruption and/or reduction of its business, suffered as a result of "direct physical loss or damage" to covered property that is "caused by or result[s] from a covered peril." 3-E.R.-485. Vigilant elected not to define or explain the phrase "direct physical loss or damage." *See generally* 3-E.R.-483-97. Under this coverage, Vigilant promised to pay for Another Planet's actual loss of business income sustained because of the "impairment" of Another Planet's operations. 3-E.R.-485.

The Policy contains additional time element coverages for "Extra Expense" for losses, including "business income loss," occasioned by the "impairment" of Another Planet's operations stemming from "Civil Authority" orders or the inability to conduct business because of events affecting "Dependent Business Premises" (property of those upon whom Another Planet depends to conduct its own business). 3-E.R.-485-88, 569-70. Each of these additional time element coverages requires "direct physical loss or damage to property" on or around Another Planet's premises or those of "dependent businesses." 3-E.R.-485-88.

Because the Policy is a package (or combination) policy, it also provides third-party liability insurance for claims of others against Another Planet. Even though the liability portion covers "damages that the insured becomes legally obligated to pay by reason of liability: imposed by law; or assumed in an insured contract; for . . . property damage caused by an occurrence to which this coverage applies," 4-E.R.-634, it contains an exclusion for "damages, loss, cost or expense arising out of the actual, alleged or threatened contaminative, pathogenic, toxic or other hazardous properties of biological agents." 4-E.R.-732. "Biological Agents" is defined to include "viruses or other pathogens (whether or not a microorganism)." 4-E.R.-733. On the other hand, the Policy's property and time element coverages lack *any* exclusion for losses caused by or resulting from the viruses, communicable diseases, or pandemics.

Several of the time element coverages are limited to certain losses during a "period of restoration," which the Policy defines as (among other things) "immediately after the time of direct physical loss or damage by a covered peril to property" "until your operations are restored, with reasonable speed, to the level which would generate the business income amount that would have existed if no direct physical loss or damage occurred, including the time required to" "repair or replace the property." 3-E.R.-578.

Another Planet sustained covered Business Income and Extra Expense losses as defined in the Policy. These Business Income and Extra Expense losses were sustained because of the "impairment" of Another Planet's business operations because of "direct physical loss or damage" to insured premises and "dependent business premises." These Business Income and

Extra Expense losses were also caused by the state, municipal, and other civil authority orders issued throughout California and Nevada in response to the actual presence of the virus.

II. Another Planet's Coverage Claim and Lawsuit

Another Planet turned to Vigilant for coverage of its Pandemic-related losses. When Vigilant refused coverage, Another Planet sued on October 23, 2020, asserting claims for contractual breaches, bad faith, and fraud, seeking damages and declaratory relief. 4-E.R.-792. In response, Vigilant moved to dismiss, arguing principally that (i) the complaint failed to allege "direct physical loss or damage to property," and (ii) Another Planet's allegations regarding the presence of COVID-19 at insured premises were "conclusory." 4-E.R.-793. The District Court granted Vigilant's motion, concluding that "Another Planet's facilities did not shut down because of the virus's presence on facility surfaces. Rather, those facilities shut in response to the closure orders, which would have required them to remain closed even if Another Planet could have proven to a certainty that the virus was not present at its facilities." 4-E.R.-785. The court, nonetheless, noted that it was theoretically possible for an insured to establish "that the virus created

physical loss or damage" and granted Another Planet leave to amend. 4-E.R.-785-86.

Another Planet filed a First Amended Complaint asserting additional allegations in support of its claim for covered losses. 3-E.R.-379. In the First Amended Complaint, Another Planet alleged that SARS-CoV-2 was present on and in its properties, the properties of dependent businesses, and on property within the vicinity of its own insured premises. 3-E.R.-405-06 ¶¶ 76-78. Another Planet also alleged that SARS-CoV-2 physically alters property when present. 3-E.R.-380 ¶ 5, 398 ¶ 53. The First Amended Complaint stated scientific information supporting these allegations. 3-E.R.-398-401 ¶¶ 51-57. Another Planet further described the government's response to SARS-CoV-2's spread and alleged that the response was motivated—in part—to slow, limit, and prevent physical loss of and damage to property (thereby protecting people). 3-E.R.401-05 ¶¶ 58-75. Because of SARS-CoV-2's presence and the resulting civil authority orders, Another Planet alleged that its business had been "impair[ed]" within the Policy's meaning. 3-E.R.-406 ¶ 79. Finally, Another Planet alleged that it had incurred costs to prevent SARS-CoV-2 from re-entering (and thus further damaging) its property, which

Vigilant must pay under the longstanding mitigation doctrine. 3-E.R.-406 \P 76.

The First Amended Complaint also contains allegations that demonstrate that the parties intended the Policy to insure losses caused by viruses, including the long history of Vigilant, its parent company (Chubb Limited), and the insurance industry in general all publicly recognizing that a pandemic could create substantial liabilities under policies just like Vigilant's. *See* 3-E.R.384-89 ¶¶ 19-25, 391¶ 30.

Vigilant filed another motion to dismiss. 3-E.R.-356. The Court granted Vigilant's second motion, this time with prejudice, holding that additional allegations regarding civil authority orders did not establish that those orders were passed "as a direct result' of the virus having caused actual property damage" to locations near Another Planet's insured properties and that Another Planet's claim for coverage under the Building and Personal Property coverage was not sufficiently tied to any claimed losses for direct physical loss or damage caused by SARS-CoV-2. 1-E.R.-003-04. The district court premised these holdings on the supposition that whether SARS-CoV-2 was present at the relevant locations "seems unknowable," 4-E.R.-785,

and reasoned that the premises were closed solely because of civil authority orders, not because of SARS-CoV-2's presence. 1-E.R.-003.

Another Planet appealed to the Ninth Circuit. 4-E.R.-788. After briefing and argument, the Ninth Circuit certified its question to this Court on December 29, 2022. This Court agreed to review the certified question on March 1, 2023.

ARGUMENT

I. <u>Principles of Insurance Policy Interpretation</u>

This case centers on the meaning of the undefined term "direct physical loss or damage to property," which is ubiquitous in "all-risk" commercial property insurance policies. "While insurance contracts have special features, they are still contracts to which the ordinary rules of contractual interpretation apply." *Bank of the W. v. Superior Ct.*, 2 Cal. 4th 1254, 1264 (1992). The parties' mutual intentions and understandings govern the policy's interpretation, ascertaining that intent from the language that the parties used in the policy, whenever possible. Cal. Civ. Code §§ 1636, 1639; *AIU Ins. Co. v. Superior Ct.*, 51 Cal. 3d 807, 821-22 (1990). "The whole of a contract is to be taken together, so as to give effect to every part, if reasonably practicable, each clause helping to interpret the other." Cal. Civ. Code § 1641. Words and policy provisions are given their "clear and explicit" meanings, interpreted in their "ordinary and popular sense." *Id.* §§ 1638, 1644. Thus, "[i]f the meaning a layperson would ascribe to the language of a contract of insurance is clear and unambiguous, a court will apply that meaning." *Montrose Chem. Corp. v. Admiral Ins. Co.*, 10 Cal. 4th 645, 666-67 (1995).

However, "[a] policy provision is ambiguous when it is susceptible to two or more reasonable constructions." E.M.M.I. Inc. v. Zurich Am. Ins. Co., 32 Cal. 4th 465, 470 (2004). Whether a term is ambiguous is a context-specific inquiry. Although "the intention of the parties is to be ascertained from the writing alone, if possible," Cal. Civ. Code § 1639, the meaning of a policy provision "may be explained by reference to the circumstances under which it was made, and the matter to which it relates." Id. § 1647. Consequently, "even if a contract appears unambiguous on its face, a latent ambiguity may be exposed by extrinsic evidence which reveals more than one possible meaning to which the language of the contract is yet reasonably susceptible." Dore v. Arnold Worldwide, Inc., 39 Cal. 4th 384, 391 (2006) (citation and brackets omitted). Parties may offer extrinsic evidence "to

prove a meaning to which the language of the instrument is reasonably susceptible," even if the policy language appears plain and unambiguous by itself. *Pacific Gas & Elec. Co. v. G. W. Thomas Drayage & Rigging Co.*, 69 Cal. 2d 33, 37 (1968).

An ambiguity is resolved by giving the policy language the meaning that the insurer believed that the insured understood at the time of issuing the policy. Cal. Civ. Code § 1649. If applying this rule does not eliminate the ambiguity, then the policy's language must "be interpreted most strongly against the party who caused the uncertainty to exist." Id. § 1654. In the context of form insurance contracts, such as this case (and most coverage cases), ambiguities are resolved in favor of coverage. AIU, 51 Cal. 3d at 822 ("Because the insurer writes the policy, it is held 'responsible' for ambiguous policy language, which is therefore construed in favor of coverage."). Thus, promises of insurance coverage are interpreted broadly, "protect[ing] not the subjective beliefs of the insurer but, rather, 'the objectively reasonable expectations of the insured." Montrose, 10 Cal. 4th at 667.

II. <u>Evidence Showing Insurers Intended to Cover</u> <u>Losses Caused by a Virus Like SARS-CoV-2</u>

This Court has explained that ascertaining an insurance policy's meaning depends on the context in which the policy was issued and in which the claim for coverage arises. "The proper question is whether the word is ambiguous in the context of *this* policy and the circumstances of *this* case. The provision will shift between clarity and ambiguity with changes in the event at hand." *Bay Cities Paving & Grading, Inc. v. Lawyers' Mut. Ins. Co., 5* Cal. 4th 854, 868 (1993) (citations omitted); *accord Yahoo Inc. v. Nat'l Union Fire Ins. Co.,* 14 Cal. 5th 58, 69 (2022) ("the meaning of the word or phrase must be considered in light of its context").

Examining the Ninth Circuit's certified question "in the context of *this* policy and the circumstances of *this* case" provides clarity that insurers, including Vigilant, knew (and led insureds to believe) that "all-risk" insurance was intended to cover losses caused by the presence of a virus—and specifically, in the event of a pandemic.

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