#### S277893

# Supreme Court

# State of California

ANOTHER PLANET ENTERTAINMENT, LLC,

Petitioner,

v.

#### VIGILANT INSURANCE COMPANY,

Respondent.

FOLLOWING CERTIFICATION ORDER BY THE U.S. COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE NINTH CIRCUIT, CASE NO. 21-16093

#### ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

SUSAN KOEHLER SULLIVAN (156418) Douglas J. Collodel (112797) GRETCHEN S. CARNER (132877) Brett C. Safford (292048) CLYDE & CO US LLP 355 South Grand Avenue, Suite 1400 Los Angeles, California 90071 Telephone: (213) 358-7600 Facsimile: (213) 385-7650 susan.sullivan@clydeco.us douglas.collodel@clydeco.us gretchen.carner@clydeco.us brett.safford@clydeco.us

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

Where easily removable, self-dissipating substances like viral particles cause no structural changes to the objects they contact, the presence of such a substance does not cause "direct physical loss or damage" for property insurance purposes.

Businesses have always suffered economic losses during cold and flu season when cold and flu viruses pervade their properties and make employees and customers ill, but nobody has ever claimed property damage coverage for such losses. The SARS-CoV-2 virus has a more severe effect on *people* than do these common viruses, but no different effect on *property*.

#### 1. <u>AP Does Not And Cannot Allege That Viral Particles</u> <u>Cause Any Physical Changes To Property</u>

AP rests much of its argument on its allegation that the COVID-19 virus itself has "physical" existence and that it can be present on surfaces inside structures. AP Br. 42-43. The point is true but irrelevant. What AP must establish, but cannot, is that those physical viral particles cause physical alterations to the property they touch. Because the mere temporary presence of an easily removed foreign substance—a water spill, a wafting odor, or microscopic aerosolized droplets—does not distinctly and demonstrably alter the property itself, it does not qualify as

direct physical damage or loss under the plain policy language implemented in California's longstanding *MRI Healthcare* standard. *See supra* Part I.

AP invokes semantic wordplay to conjure the impression that there is a physical change within the meaning of MRI Healthcare. As AP observes, when viral particles contaminate an inert surface—say, a door handle, a sink, or a countertop—the surface may become a vector of transmission known as a "fomite." AP Br. 46-47. But when an object becomes a "fomite," the object itself has not physically changed in any way. The word "fomite" is merely a label used to describe an object where viral particles rest and can be transferred to other humans who touch the object. See Fomite, Merriam-Webster's Online Dictionary (2023) ("fomite: an object (such as a dish, doorknob, or article of clothing) that may be contaminated with infectious agents (such as bacteria or viruses) and serve in their transmission"), https://perma.cc/F5QJ-5UFE; Fomite, Dictionary.com (2023) (defining "fomites" as "surfaces, as clothing or door handles, that can become contaminated with pathogens when touched by the carrier of an infection, and can then transmit the pathogens to those who next touch the surfaces"), https://perma.cc/T2E4-E3LJ.

As one dictionary reference observes, "Doorknobs are often cited as the classic fomites, although there's nothing unusual about spreading disease via such fomites as toys, towels, elevator buttons, light switches, and remote controls." *Id.* A doorknob that becomes a fomite, however, is no more physically altered than a doorknob that becomes wet—the former has viral particles

on it, the latter has water particles on it. In either case, once the viral or water particles evaporate or are wiped away, the doorknob remains exactly the same doorknob it was before. As the New Hampshire Supreme Court recently held, "the mere adherence of molecules to surfaces does not alter the property in a distinct and demonstrable manner," because "[p]roperty that has been changed in a distinct and demonstrable way will not be changed back simply by the passage of time." *Schleicher*, 2023 WL 3357980, at \*7.

The scientific articles set forth in the FAC and cited in AP's brief confirm as much: they address only the prevalence and transmissibility of the virus. AP Br. 43-47. None suggests that viral particles cause the kind of tangible change to inert property that could be categorized as a "distinct, demonstrable, physical alteration" of that property. MRI Healthcare, 187 Cal. App. 4th at 779 (quotation omitted). AP proffers no articles or allegations showing, for example, that after viral particles present on a physical object dissipate or are wiped away, the object differs distinctly and demonstrably from its state prior to the virus's presence, or even that the former presence of the virus remains subsequently detectable on the object. At most, AP's scientific articles explain how property can "become a vector for transmission of a virus that poses a risk to human health," but that indisputable fact is irrelevant "because the policies insure property, not people." Schleicher, 2023 WL 3357980, at \*7.

Countless other courts have made the same point: an "allegation that Coronavirus particles 'altered' objects like

doorknobs ... into 'vectors of disease' by landing on, adhering to, and being subject to becoming dislodged from them does not satisfy the requirement of 'physical loss or damage'," because it is impossible to establish that the property was "structurally altered by its contact with Coronavirus particles." Tapestry, 286 A.3d at 1060; see, e.g., Brown Jug, 27 F.4th at 401 (COVID-19) viral particles do not "alter the appearance, shape, color, structure, or other material dimension of the property" (quotation omitted)); Verveine, 184 N.E.3d at 1276 ("Evanescent presence of a harmful airborne substance that will quickly dissipate on its own, or surface-level contamination that can be removed by simple cleaning, does not physically alter or affect property."). The Second District Court of Appeal put the point succinctly: "While the impact of the virus on the world ... can hardly be overstated, its impact on physical property is inconsequential: deadly or not, it may be wiped off surfaces using ordinary cleaning materials, and it disintegrates on its own in a matter of days." UTA, 77 Cal. App. 5th at 835 (quotation omitted). Because the virus "injures people, not property," property insurance policies have no application to business losses associated with those human injuries. Santo's, 15 F.4th at 403.

2. <u>The Lack Of Any Repair Or Replacement Of Property</u> <u>Due To COVID-19 Particles Confirms The Absence Of</u> Any Physical Change To Property

The fact that COVID-19 viral particles do not cause the kind of the structural alteration contemplated by "direct physical loss or damage" is confirmed by the absence of any allegation that AP was required to repair or replace the property where viral

particles were present. As many courts have held, the mere presence of virus does not qualify as physical damage because it "does not necessitate structural repairs or remediation; it can be removed from a surface with a disinfectant." *Colectivo*, 974 N.W.2d at 448 (quotation omitted); *see UTA*, 77 Cal. App. 5th at 839 (collecting cases).

Cleaning property to remove viral particles from surfaces does not constitute a "repair" of broken property any more than does mopping up spilled water or brushing off a dusty tabletop. As the Louisiana Supreme Court recently observed, the ordinary meaning of the term "repair," considering its context in reference to "tangible" property and alongside terms such as "replace," is "to restore by replacing a part or putting together what is torn or broken." Cajun Conti, 2023 WL 2549132, at \*4 (emphasis added) (quoting Merriam-Webster's Online Dictionary (2022)). Under that ordinary meaning, a "layperson would not say that cleaning or sterilizing tables, plates or silverware is a 'repair." *Id.* at \*3. The same is true for cleaning or sterilizing AP's insured properties—cleaning is just cleaning, not the correction of a structural change to the property.

Nor does an insured "repair" property by installing barriers or reconfiguring spaces to reduce human interaction and viral transmissions. Obviously, *moving* undamaged property is not equivalent to *fixing* damaged property. "[J]ust as the properties were not physically altered in any way by the COVID-19 pandemic, the plaintiffs' activities designed to prevent the transmission of the coronavirus on the properties were not

'repairs' in any ordinary sense of the word." Conn. Dermatology, 288 A.3d at 201; see, e.g., Brown Jug, 27 F.4th at 404 ("[R]emediation measures, such as cleaning and reconfiguring spaces[] to reduce the threat of COVID-19 ... are precisely the sorts of losses we have previously determined are not tangible, physical losses, but economic losses." (quotation omitted)). Such efforts again only underscore the point that the virus harms people, not property.

AP itself tacitly confirms that sanitation measures do not constitute repairs of broken property. According to AP, such measures do not work to eliminate the virus's threat: "[E]ven such measures, including frequent cleanings, cannot be assured to eliminate or exclude SARS-CoV-2 from a premises" (AP Br. 48), because "disinfecting property works only until the next infected person ... enters the room and causes the space to be infiltrated anew with SARS-CoV-2" (id. at 76-77). AP asserts that it was only the "mobilization of scientists," greater "knowledge," and the "speedy development of safe and effective vaccines" that "have allowed society to reengage in person-toperson interactions and commerce." AP Br. 56. None of those measures has anything to do with making repairs to correct a structural change to property.

AP's own argument, then, confirms that there *is no* structural change subject to "repair." And because there is no structural change to the insured property, there is no direct

physical loss or damage to the property, and no property insurance coverage.

#### 3. <u>The COVID-19 Virus's Presence In Air Does Not</u> Provide A Separate Basis For Coverage

AP also relies heavily on its allegation that the COVID-19 virus purportedly "changes the physical composition of the air," emphasizing that "[a]irspaces are property and covered by insurance policies" and that "household cleaners cannot remove SARS-CoV-2 from the air." AP Br. 44, 52-53. Its reliance on alleged harm to the "air" is misplaced for two reasons.

First, AP's Policy does not cover damage to "air" inside a covered structure. The Policy expressly defines the covered "[p]roperty" to include "building" and "personal property," (alongside other categories irrelevant here), 3-ER-583, and then specifies that the term "[b]uilding" "does not mean[] land, water or air, either inside or outside of a structure," 3-ER-566 (emphasis added). AP inexplicably ignores this policy language, which makes its air-related arguments categorically irrelevant to this case.

Second, and in any event, AP's arguments lack merit on their own terms. Just as the COVID-19 viral particles cause no lasting changes to inert property, they likewise cause no lasting changes to the air inside a building. Regular air circulation removes aerosolized particles just like regular surface cleaning. The fact that, as with any cold or flu virus, new particles may be reintroduced by human interactions, as AP alleges, does not show that the air itself has been permanently altered; it instead

reconfirms that the COVID-19 virus harms people, not property. *See Tapestry*, 286 A.3d at 1060.

As the Supreme Court of Maryland explained, an insured cannot establish direct physical loss or damage to insured property merely by pointing to "the entry of Coronavirus particles into the air, which particles then travel among and mix with the many other kinds of particles already traveling in the same air until they are further dispersed or ultimately deposited onto a surface." *Id.* To be sure, viral particles may "become dislodged and reenter[] circulation in the air, thus posing a health risk to humans," but such effects "do[]not constitute damage to property in the absence of a physical or structural alteration of the property." *Id.* That analysis is unassailable, and it precludes coverage here.

#### B. AP's Counterarguments Are Unavailing

AP raises three further arguments in defense of its position that viral particles actually cause physical alterations to the objects they temporarily rest upon. None has merit.

#### 1. <u>AP's Argument About The Efficacy Of Cleaning Rests</u> On A False Legal Premise

AP contends that even if COVID-19 particles cause no structural alterations to property they touch because they disintegrate or are easily removed, the particles at least cause alterations while they exist, because their very presence "modifies" the property. AP Br. 50. But by "modifies," AP means only the pointlessly truistic fact that an object with particles on it can be said to differ from an object without particles on it, in the same way that a clean window differs from a dirty window. That

kind of "modification" is not the kind of *structural* alteration required to constitute direct physical damage under the law of California and other jurisdictions.

As discussed above, courts have consistently recognized that property suffers direct physical damage only when it undergoes an alteration that can be corrected only by a *repair*, not merely by the brief passage of time or the swipe of a cloth. If AP were right, then property that becomes wet, dusty, or dirty always suffers direct physical loss or damage until it is cleaned, which would work a radical and unprecedented expansion in the scope of property insurance coverage.

For the same reasons, AP does not advance its cause by asserting that the efficacy of cleaning was not understood at earlier stages of the pandemic and that "household cleaners are not equally effective across all surfaces or materials." AP Br. 50-51. Those assertions have no bearing on this case. To establish coverage, AP must allege and prove facts showing that viral particles cause the kind of structural alterations to property that can be corrected only by repair or replacement of the property. AP alleges no such facts. It does not contend, for example, that COVID-19 particles have some special penetrating or adhesive properties that make them unique among all viruses in their power to physically alter inert property they rest upon. The articles AP cites offer no such claims—they state only that COVID-19 particles are hard to eliminate because they are frequently reintroduced by human interactions. As already shown, those articles merely confirm that the COVID-19 virus

presents a problem of transmission among people, not damage to property. *See supra* at 31.

### 2. <u>AP Cites Inapposite Cases Involving Commercial</u> General Liability Insurance

In support of the proposition that "contamination constitutes physical damage" (AP Br. 49), AP cites two cases involving commercial general liability ("CGL") policies: AIU Insurance Co. v. Superior Court, 51 Cal. 3d 807 (1990), which addressed coverage for liability arising from invasive environmental contamination, id. at 813-14, and Armstrong World Industries, Inc. v. Aetna Casualty & Surety Co., 45 Cal. App. 4th 1 (1996), which addressed coverage for liability arising from asbestos damage, id. at 37. As courts addressing COVID-19 coverage arguments have repeatedly explained, Armstrong and AIU have no relevance to first-party coverage for alleged property damage.

As a general matter, "cases involving CGL coverage are of limited benefit in determining the scope of property insurance coverage" because the "cause of loss in the context of property insurance is wholly different from that in a liability policy, and a liability insurer agrees to cover the insured for a broader spectrum of risks than in property insurance." *UTA*, 77 Cal. App. 5th at 837 (quotation omitted). Indeed, in stark contrast to commercial property policies, the *AIU* and *Armstrong* policies both *expressly included* the third party's "loss of use" of its property as a component of covered "property damage." *AIU*, 51 Cal. 3d at 815 n.3; *Armstrong*, 45 Cal. App. 4th at 88. These decisions do not address, let alone provide guidance concerning,

the meaning of "direct physical loss or damage" under the first-party property Policy here, which does *not* define "damage" to include "loss of use" alone. *See Inns by the Sea*, 71 Cal. App. 5th at 701 n.16 (explaining that "*Armstrong* is not a persuasive precedent" in this context because "it dealt with insurance coverage under a third party commercial general liability (CGL) policy with different policy language and posing distinct coverage issues").

The decisions are further distinguishable because the environmental and asbestos contaminants in those cases permeated the property itself and "required specialized remediation" or "specific remediation or containment to render them harmless." *UTA*, 77 Cal. App. 5th at 838. By contrast, viral particles rest on the surface of inert property and either disintegrate or are easily removed. AP's reliance on *AIU* and *Armstrong* is unavailing.

3. <u>The Flawed Outlier Decisions In Huntington Ingalls</u> <u>and Marina Pacific Offer No Basis To Depart From</u> The Majority View

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